
Annual Report 2006

B D O  P r i v a t e  B a n k



THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN MONEY AND WEALTH

Annual Report 2006





TABLE OF CONTENTS

2	 Chairman’s	Message

4	 2006	Review	of	Operations

6	 Board	of	Directors

8	 Statement	of	Management’s	Responsibility			
	 for	Financial	Statements

9	 Report	of	Independent	Auditors

10	 Statements	of	Condition

11	 Income	Statements

12	 Statements	of	Changes	in	Capital	Funds

14	 Cash	Flow	Statements

15	 Notes	to	Financial	Statements

40	 Our	Officers



2

B D O  P R I VA T E  B A N K       2 0 0 6  A N N U A L  R E P O RT

he year 2006 was another good year for BDO Private Bank. Net income was at P459.269 million and 

return on equity at 12.92%.  The underlying business continues to be strong as the number of clients served 

and assets under management increased by 30% and 33% respectively.  We have seen increased activity in our wealth 

advisory services, signaling the market’s acceptance of the value proposition offered by the Bank—accessibility, open 

architecture philosophy, bespoke services and good execution backed by the financial strength of one of the largest 

conglomerates in the country, the SM Group.

The Bank’s value proposition starts with a focused and customized approach to achieving our client’s wealth 

management objectives. Whether it is for acquisition, growth, preservation or orderly distribution of wealth, we 

can create a program tailored to the needs of our clients, spanning beyond the current generation. We continue to 

expand our products and services and complement it with ‘best of breed’ products available in the market. Such open 

architecture philosophy enables us to offer what’s best for our clients, even if it means keeping their assets outside the 

bank.  This, I believe, is what sets us apart from our competitors.

While we still have a long way to go, 2006 was another step in the right direction.  We are making good progress 

towards our strategic objectives and I believe we have the right ingredients to succeed in the private banking market. 

However, we need to remain focused and client-oriented.  In the end, our continued success will be driven by our 

ability to create value as our client’s trusted advisor, not only in this generation but in the succeeding generations.

Nestor V. Tan
Chairman of the Board

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

T



“S uch open architecture philosophy enables us to offer 
what’s best for our clients, even if it means keeping their 
assets outside the bank.  This, I believe, is what sets us 
apart from our competitors.”
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he year 2006 witnessed dramatic improvements in the general macroeconomic conditions of the Philippine 
economy in spite of the occasional volatility encountered by the local financial and capital markets.  The 

year started on a hopeful note when President Gloria Macapagal-Arroyo exercised the discretion to raise the E-VAT 
to 12%, as provided by the law, in order to resolutely address the yawning fiscal deficits besetting the country.  Soon 
after that, a significant price rally in government bonds ensued, which brought domestic interest rates to all-time 
lows, and was a clear manifestation of the markets’ positive outlook towards the Arroyo Administration’s political will 
to solve the fiscal challenges facing the country.   

The early stability of the local financial and capital markets was briefly disrupted during the second quarter 
by the U.S. Federal Reserve’s decision to increase Federal Fund Rates by 25 basis points to 5.25%.  The local bond 
market sold off  by more than 300 to 400 basis points. Portfolio managers swamped by redemption from Unit 
Investment Trust Fund (UITFs) investors were forced to unload their position on both their fixed income and equity 
securities to raise liquidity.  

During the second half of the year, however, the joint efforts of fiscal and monetary authorities to implement 
reforms in the financial markets started bearing fruit. With a more stable political environment, unprecedented 
increases in remittance flows from overseas Filipino workers, sustained export growth, domestic interest rates at 
historic lows, benign inflation, and a strengthening foreign exchange rate, the investment climate once again became 
attractive for both portfolio and direct investments. Thus, we ended the year 2006 with sterling macroeconomic 
indicators: GDP growth targets realized at 5.4%, the dollar/peso exchange at 49.03 versus 53.09 in 2005, the 
Philippine Stock Exchange composite index rebounding by 42% through 2006 and ending  at 2,982.54, and the 
benchmark secondary 91-day Treasury Bill rates ending the year at a record 4.837%.  

Against this challenging environment in 2006, we are pleased to report that BDO Private Bank continued to 
register remarkable growths in total resources and total client funds managed and an ever-expanding customer base.

Total resources grew by approximately 50% with a year-end level of P22.2 billion, while our customer base 
expanded by 30%  and total customer funds managed rising by 32.6% to P34 billion.

The Bank ended stronger with a total capital base of Pesos 3.8 billion, allowing it to declare cash dividends for 
the second consecutive year.  In early 2007, the Bank paid cash dividends in the amount of P500 million against the 
previous year’s cash dividend payment of P250 million.

Gross revenues grew modestly at 11% to P820 million, while manpower and related expenses increased by 44% 
to support growth targets.  Net income in 2006 was registered at P457 million, slightly lower than the P477 million 
posted in 2005, resulting in an average return on capital of 12.7%  for 2006.

In 2007, BDO Private Bank aims to further improve its presence and reach as it opens additional offices where 
its customers are located. Alliances with domestic and foreign partners are being expanded to improve the universe of 
products and services the private bank’s clients can access.  The Bank continues to invest in its people and  technology 
to ensure continued quality service. 

Our heartfelt gratitude to our customers, our partners and colleagues for the trust and support you continue to 
give BDO Private Bank.  BDO Private Bank is committed to giving value in its wealth management and advisory 
services and will always be your partner in growing, managing and bequeathing your wealth. 

Jose Emmanuel U. Hilado
Senior Vice President & Treasurer

T
2006 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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“Against this challenging 
environment in 2006, 
we are pleased to report 
that BDO Private Bank 
continued to register 
remarkable growths in 
total resources and total 
client funds managed 
and an ever-expanding 
customer base.”
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BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

a.  Nestor V. Tan 
 Chairman of the Board

b.  Ma. Teresa L. Chan

c. Gregory L. Domingo

d. Pedro M. Florescio, III

e. Eduardo V. Francisco 

f. Jesus A. Jacinto 

g.  Pedro E.O. Roxas

h.  Jose T. Sio

i. Evelyn L. Villanueva

j. Jaime C. Yu

k. Harley T. Sy
 Advisor



STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of BDO Private Bank, Inc. is responsible for all information and representations contained in the financial statements 
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.  The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards and reflect amounts that are based on the best estimates and informed judgment of management with 
an appropriate consideration to materiality.

In this regard, management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which provides for the necessary internal controls to ensure 
that transactions are properly authorized and recorded, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition and liabilities are 
recognized.

The Board of Directors reviews the financial statements before such statements are approved and submitted to the stockholders of the Bank.

Punongbayan & Araullo, the independent auditors and appointed by the stockholders, has examined the financial statements of the 
company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing and has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon 
completion of such examination, in its report to stockholders.

 Nestor  V.  Tan  Jose Emmanuel U. Hilado  Agnes B. Santos
 Chairman of the Board  Senior Vice President and Treasurer  Vice President and Head 
   of Financial Control
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The Board of Directors
BDO Private Bank, Inc.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Universal Bank)

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of BDO Private Bank, Inc. which comprise the statements of condition as at 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the income statements, statements of changes in capital funds and cash fl ow statements for the years then ended, and 
notes to fi nancial statements comprising of a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine 
Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements.  The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of BDO Private Bank, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 
and 2005, and of its fi nancial performance and its cash fl ows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO

By: Francis B. Albalate
Partner
CPA Reg. No. 0088499
TIN 120-319-015
PTR No. 0267678, January 2, 2007, Makati City
SEC Accreditation No. 0104-AR-1
BIR AN 08-002511-5-2005 (Dec. 27, 2005 to 2008)

February 23, 2007   
     

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Universal Bank)

STATEMENTS OF CONDITION
DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND 2005 
(Amounts In Philippine Pesos)

  Notes  2006 2005  

  R E S O U R C E S

DUE FROM BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS   P   1,961,855,285   P   612,568,546  

DUE FROM OTHER BANKS 4  2,153,968,549    1,329,024,101  

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5  7,341,851,377    4,763,206,566  

 Available-for-sale securities 6  5,805,078,621    5,378,391,668  

 Held-to-maturity investments 7  4,065,813,561    2,634,255,602  

LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 8  739,023,976    539,410,987  

BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES 

 AND EQUIPMENT - Net 9  45,232,907    31,926,514  

OTHER RESOURCES  10  58,427,373    50,502,686  

TOTAL RESOURCES   P   22,171,251,649   P   15,339,286,670  

  LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL FUNDS

DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 11

 Demand   P   2,484,229,321   P   652,448,556  

 Time    5,956,930,937    3,151,774,190  

  

  Total Deposit Liabilities   8,441,160,258    3,804,222,746  

BILLS PAYABLE  12  9,482,770,194    7,796,988,515  

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 13  328,102,331    252,883,212  

ACCRUED TAXES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 14  96,827,217    77,510,781  

 Total Liabilities    18,348,860,000    11,931,605,254  

CAPITAL FUNDS  15  3,822,391,649    3,407,681,416  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL FUNDS  P   22,171,251,649   P   15,339,286,670    

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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   Notes  2006 2005  

INTEREST INCOME ON

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 P  672,378,433     P   399,568,153 

 Available-for-sale securities 6  385,878,093         103,557,829  

 Held-to-maturity investments 7   285,043,279         306,414,674  

 Due from other banks 4       89,576,359         38,558,788  

 Loans and other receivables 8       31,736,567         37,848,758  

     

      1,464,612,731         885,948,202  

INTEREST EXPENSE ON  

 Bills payable  12, 20       654,782,109         257,601,554  

 Deposit liabilities  11       313,281,828         154,176,517  

     

          968,063,937         411,778,071  

NET INTEREST INCOME   496,548,794         474,170,131  

     

OTHER INCOME 

 Trading and securities gain - net 5, 7       215,705,178         95,733,629  

 Foreign exchange gain - net 6, 7       69,342,710         36,608,430  

 Service charges, fees and commissions 20       31,111,281         133,586,105  

 Others         7,697,671         1,973,344  

      

     323,856,840     267,901,508  

     

OTHER EXPENSES   

 Taxes and licenses         102,239,882         60,564,544  

 Employee benefits  18       67,916,863         43,775,428  

 Occupancy  21       19,596,204         19,753,501  

 Depreciation and amortization 9       15,761,839         6,831,902  

 Representation and entertainment        15,230,798         14,891,053  

 Third party information 16       12,750,876         11,462,555  

 Repairs and maintenance        7,557,511         7,455,532  

 Others  17       56,682,847         42,905,838  

     297,736,820    207,640,353  

INCOME BEFORE TAX   522,668,814    534,431,286   

TAX EXPENSE  19       65,399,754         56,820,322  

NET INCOME   P  457,269,090  P  477,610,964

See Notes to Financial Statements.

BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Universal Bank)

INCOME STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND 2005 
(Amounts In Philippine Pesos)
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     Deposit for Future   
   Share Capital (Note 15)  Stock Subscription 
 Notes   Preferred Stock      Common Stock     (Note 15)   
          
Balance as of January 1, 2005        
     As previously stated   P 1,225,000,000   P 625,000,000      P    315,000,000   
 Effects of transition to PFRS, net of tax 2     -        -        -           
          
 As restated        1,225,000,000         625,000,000         315,000,000   
          
Fair value gains during the year - net 6     -           -           -         
          
Transfer to surplus reserves      -           -           -           
           
Net income for the year      -           -           -         
               
Cash dividends 15     -           -          -    
          
Balance as of December 31, 2005   P   1,225,000,000    P   625,000,000    P   315,000,000   
          
Balance as of January 1, 2006   P   1,225,000,000    P   625,000,000    P   315,000,000   
          
Transfer of deposits to common stock 15     -            315,000,000   (    315,000,000 ) 
          
Fair value losses during the year - net 6     -           -           -         
          
Transfer to surplus reserves      -           -           -           
          
Net income for the year      -           -       -     
      
    
Balance as of December 31, 2006    P   1,225,000,000    P   940,000,000    P -    
          
Income (loss) directly recognized in capital funds        
 2005              

 2006              
          
          

See Notes to Financial Statements.

BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Universal Bank)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND 2005
(Amounts In Philippine Pesos) 
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   Fair Value Gains on 
 Surplus (Note 15)  Available-for-sale  Total   

  Appropriated     Free     Securities (Note 15)     Capital Funds  

 P         -       P      850,181,818    P         376,012    P     3,015,557,830   
  5,143,302   (    20,688,516 )       20,215,113         4,669,899  

      5,143,302         829,493,302         20,591,125         3,020,227,729  

  -           -             159,592,723         159,592,723  

  103,236   (    103,236 )     -           -    

  -             477,610,964       -             477,610,964  
      
  -   (    249,750,000 )     -       (    249,750,000 )

 P   5,246,538    P   1,057,251,030    P   180,183,848    P   3,407,681,416  

 P    5,246,538   P   1,057,251,030    P   180,183,848    P   3,407,681,416  

    -           -           -           -    

  -           -       (    42,558,827 ) (    42,558,827 )

  2,400,000   (    2,400,000 )     -           -    

  -             457,269,060       -      457,269,060  

 P   7,646,538    P   1,512,120,090    P   137,625,021    P   3,822,391,649  

             P   159,592,723  

            ( P  42,558,827 )
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    2006 2005  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
 Income before tax   P    522,668,814   P   534,431,286  
 Adjustments for:  
  Depreciation and amortization       15,761,839        6,831,902  
  Fair value losses (gains)       68,606,310   (    132,231,545 )
  Interest expense      968,063,937    411,778,071 
  Interest income (  1,464,612,731 ) (    885,948,202 )
 Operating income (loss) before changes in resources and liabilities      110,488,169   (     65,138,488 )
  Increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (  2,572,032,002 ) (  1,733,018,540 )
  Increase in available-for-sale securities (    469,245,780 ) (  2,757,007,454 )
  Increase in loans and other receivables (    199,612,989 ) (    239,793,659 )
  Decrease (increase) in other resources (     68,240,456 )       115,627,844  
  Increase in deposit liabilities    4,636,937,512     923,515,847 
  Increase (decrease) in accrued taxes and other liabilities       33,851,875   (    133,432,603 )
 Cash generated from (used in) operations    1,472,146,329   (  3,889,247,053 )
 Interest received    1,467,407,760     694,355,070 
 Interest paid (    978,185,272 ) (    284,903,989 )
 Cash paid for income taxes (     12,293,118 ) (       3,125,893 )
      
 Net Cash From (Used in) Operating Activities    1,949,075,699  (  3,482,921,865 )
      
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
 Net acquisitions of bank premises, furniture,   
  fixtures and equipment (     29,068,232 ) (    25,054,596 )
 Increase in held-to-maturity investments ( 1,431,557,959 ) (   533,795,255 )
      
 Net Cash Used in Investing Activities ( 1,460,626,191 ) (    558,849,851 )
      
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
 Increase in bills payable   1,685,781,679         4,816,463,971
 Dividends paid                      -      (    249,750,000 )
      
 Net Cash From Financing Activities    1,685,781,679         4,566,713,971

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND OTHER CASH EQUIVALENTS    2,174,231,187         524,942,255
      
CASH AND OTHER CASH EQUIVALENTS   
 AT BEGINNING OF YEAR  
 Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas      612,568,546       229,773,641
 Due from Other Banks    1,329,024,101        1,186,876,751
      
     1,941,592,647    1,416,650,392
      
CASH AND OTHER CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 AT END OF YEAR  
 Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas    1,961,855,285        612,568,546
 Due from Other Banks    2,153,968,549        1,329,024,101
      
      
    P 4,115,823,834   P   1,941,592,647
      
      
See Notes to Financial Statements.

BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Universal Bank)

CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND 2005
(Amounts In Philippine Pesos) 
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

On December 22, 1995, the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) granted approval to BDO Private Bank, Inc. (the Bank) to operate as a 
commercial bank.  The Bank was incorporated in the Philippines to operate as a commercial bank, as well as to engage in and carry on the 
business of a trust company and to operate a foreign currency deposit unit.  

The Bank is a wholly owned subsidiary of Banco de Oro Universal Bank (BDO), a publicly-listed bank incorporated and domiciled in the 
Philippines.  BDO is authorized to operate as an expanded commercial bank and to engage in trust and foreign currency deposit operations.
     
The Bank’s registered office, which is also its principal place of business, is located at the 27th Floor, Tower One, Ayala Triangle, Ayala Avenue, 
Makati City.  The registered office of BDO is at 12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City.

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2006 (including the comparatives for the year ended December 31, 2005) 
were authorized for issue by the Bank’s Board of Directors (Board) on February 23, 2007.

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are summarized in the succeeding 
pages.  The policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

 2.1 Basis of Preparation
 

(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS)

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).  
PFRSs are adopted by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC), formerly the Accounting Standards Council, from the 
pronouncements issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). PFRSs consist of:

 
(i) PFRSs – corresponding to International Financial Reporting Standards;
(ii) Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs) – corresponding to International Accounting Standards; and,
(iii) Interpretations to existing standards – representing interpretation issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC), formerly the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), of the IASB which are adopted by the FRSC.

  These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial assets.  The 
measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies that follow.

(b) Transition to PFRS in 2005

  In compliance with the pronouncements of the FRSC and the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the 
BSP, the Bank adopted all the relevant PFRSs for the first time in its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005, with 
January 1, 2004 as its transition date.

  The transition from the previous generally accepted accounting principles in the Philippines to PFRS was made in accordance with 
PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

  The Bank’s transition to PFRS in 2005 resulted in the restatement of the balance of Capital Funds as of January 1, 2005.  The total 
adjustments to Capital Funds, particularly the balance of Appropriated Surplus, Surplus Free and Fair Value Gains on Available-for-sale 
Securities arising from the transition amounted to P4,669,899 and are broken down as follows:

         
    Fair Value Gains   
 Relevant Surplus Surplus on Available-for- Total

   PFRS Appropriated Free  Sale Securities Adjustment
      
  Appropriation for general 
   loan losses PAS 30  P 5,143,302  (P 5,143,302 )  P -    P  -   

 Remeasurement of available-for-sale
   securities PAS 39   -     -      20,215,113    20,215,113 
  Reversal of allowance for probable
   losses PAS 30   -     5,143,302    -     5,143,302
  Reversal of allowance for probable
   losses on real and other
   properties aquired PAS 36   -     7,950,150    -     7,950,150
  Recognition and valuation of embedded
   credit default swap PAS 39   -   ( 16,290,327 )   -   ( 16,290,327 )
  Revaluation of derivatives PAS 39   -   ( 43,584,774 )   -   ( 43,584,774 )
  Recognition of transitional asset
   and defined benefit income PAS 19   -     14,278,393    -     14,278,393
  Deferred tax adjustments PAS 12   -     16,958,042        16,958,042
   
      P 5,143,302  (P 20,688,516 )  P 20,215,113   P 4,669,899

  
  In addition to the foregoing adjustments to Capital Funds, the structure of the statement of condition and income statement was also 

revised.
  

BDO PRIVATE BANK, INC.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Banco de Oro Universal Bank)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND 2005
(Amounts In Philippine Pesos) 
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(c) Functional and Presentation Currency

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Bank’s functional currency, and all values represent absolute amounts 
except when otherwise indicated (see also Note 2.9).

2.2 Impact of New Standards, and Amendments and Interpretations to Existing Standards that are Relevant to the Bank
 
(a) Effective in 2006

In 2006, the Bank adopted the amendments and interpretations to existing accounting standards issued by the IASB and adopted by 
the FRSC which are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2006.  These amendments and interpretations 
are as follows:

 PAS 19 (Amendment) : Employee Benefits
 PAS 39 (Amendment) : The Fair Value Option
 PAS 39 and PFRS 4
  (Amendment) : Financial Guarantee Contracts
 PFRS 1 (Amendment) : First-time Adoption of Philippine
      Financial Reporting Standards
 Philippine Interpretation 
  IFRIC 4  :  Determination Whether an Arrangement 
      Contains a Lease

Discussed below are the impact on the financial statements of each of these amendments and interpretations.

(i) PAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits.  The amendment introduces an option for an alternative recognition approach for 
actuarial gains and losses.  It also adds new disclosure requirements and imposes additional recognition requirements for multi-
employer plans where insufficient information is available to apply defined benefit accounting.  Because the Bank did not change 
its current accounting policy for recognition of actuarial gains and losses and does not participate in any multi-employer plans, the 
adoption of this amendment did not result in a material adjustment to the financial statements.

(ii) PAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option.  This amendment changes the definition of financial instruments classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss and restricts the ability to designate financial instruments as part of this category.  The adoption of this 
amendment did not result in a material reclassification of financial instruments because the Bank’s current designation conforms 
with the amendments to PAS 39.

(iii) PAS 39 and PFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts.  The amendment requires the recognition of guarantee liability, at 
its fair value, of the Bank in relation to a third party loan to a subsidiary guaranteed by the parent company.  The Bank’s adoption 
of the amendment did not result in a material adjustment to the financial statements. 

(iv) Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 4, Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease. Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 4 requires 
the determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease based on the substance of the arrangement.  It requires an 
assessment of whether: (a) fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset; and (b) the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset.  Based on the management’s current year assessment, the adoption of Philippine Interpretation 
IFRIC 4 has no significant impact on the Bank’s current operations because there were no outstanding arrangements that were 
identified to be a lease or contains a lease.

(b) Effective subsequent to 2006

There are a few new standards, and amendments and interpretation to existing standards that are effective for periods subsequent to 2006.  
These standards, which the Bank has opted not to adopt early, are as follows:

 PAS 1 (Amendment)  : Presentation of Financial Statements
 PFRS 7  : Financial Instruments: Disclosures
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 10  : Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

Below is a discussion of the possible impact of the foregoing standards, amendments and interpretations which the Bank will apply in 
2007 in accordance with their transitional provisions.

(i) PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and complementary amendment to PAS 1 (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2007).  PFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  It requires the 
disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including specified 
minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including sensitivity analysis to market risk.  It replaces PAS 
30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions, and disclosure requirements in PAS 32, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation.  It is applicable to all entities that report under PFRS.  The amendment to PAS 1 introduces 
disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages capital.  The Bank has assessed the impact of PFRS 7 and the 
amendment to PAS 1 and concluded that the main additional disclosures will be the sensitivity analysis to market risk and the 
capital disclosures required by the amendment of PAS 1. 

(ii) Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after November 1, 2006).  It prohibits the impairment losses recognized in an interim period on goodwill, investments in equity 
instruments and investments in financial assets carried at cost to be reversed at a subsequent statement of condition date.  The Bank 
is currently evaluating the impact of this interpretation on its financial statements and has initially determined that such may not 
have significant effects on the financial statements for 2007, as well as for prior and future periods.

 2.3 Cash and Cash Equivalents

 For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include amounts due from BSP and other banks.  Cash and cash equivalents 
are defined as cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
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 2.4 Financial Instruments

 2.4.1 Financial Assets

 Financial assets include cash and other financial instruments.  Financial assets, other than hedging instruments, are classified into the following 
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial 
assets.  Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired.  The designation of financial assets is re-evaluated at every reporting date at which date a choice of classification 
or accounting treatment is available, subject to compliance with specific provisions of applicable accounting standards.

  All financial assets that are not classified as at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, plus transaction costs.

  The foregoing categories of financial instruments are more fully described below.

(a) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 

This category include financial assets that are either classified as held for trading or are designated by the entity to be carried at fair 
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.  A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose 
of selling it in the near term or if so designated by management.  Derivatives are also categorized as ‘held for trading’ unless they are 
designated as hedges. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets included in this category are measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets originally designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss may not 
subsequently be reclassified. 

(b) Loans and Receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They arise when the Bank provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the 
receivables. 

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment losses.  Any 
change in their value is recognized in profit or loss.  Impairment loss is provided when there is objective evidence that the Company 
will not be able to collect all amounts due to it in accordance with the original terms of the receivables.  The amount of the 
impairment loss is determined as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows.

(c) Held-to-maturity Investments

This includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and a fixed date of maturity.  Investments are 
classified as held-to maturity if the Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold them until maturity.  Investments intended to 
be held for an undefined period are not included in this classification.  

Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  In addition, if there is objective 
evidence that the investment has been impaired, the financial asset is measured at the present value of estimated cash flows.  Any 
changes to the carrying amount of the investment are recognized in profit or loss.  Should the Bank sell other than an insignificant 
amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale securities.  The tainting 
provision will not apply if the sales or reclassifications of held-to-maturity investments are so close to maturity or the financial 
asset’s call date that changes in the market rate of interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value; occur 
after the Bank has collected substantially all of the financial asset’s original principal through scheduled payments or prepayments; 
or are attributable to an isolated event that is beyond the control of the Bank, is nonrecurring and could not have been reasonably 
anticipated by the Bank.

(d) Available-for-sale Financial Assets  

This include non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any of the 
other categories of financial assets.  

All financial assets within this category are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at fair 
value, unless otherwise disclosed, with changes in value recognized in capital funds, net of any effects arising from income taxes.  Gains 
and losses arising from securities classified as available-for-sale are recognized in the income statement when they are sold or when 
the investment is impaired.  

In the case of impairment, the cumulative loss previously recognized directly in capital funds is transferred to the income statement.  If 
circumstances change, impairment losses on available-for-sale equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.  On 
the other hand, if in a subsequent period the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase 
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in income statement, the impairment loss 
is reversed through the income statement.

For investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to exchange quoted market 
bid prices at the close of business on the statement of condition date.  For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value 
is determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the 
expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment.

Non-compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are recognized in profit or loss when earned, 
regardless of how the related carrying amount of financial assets is measured.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial instruments expire or are transferred and 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred. 

  2.4.2 Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting

The Bank is a party to various foreign currency forward contracts, cross-currency and interest rate swaps.  These contracts are entered into 
as a service to customers and as a means of reducing or managing the Bank’s foreign exchange and interest rate exposure as well as for 
trading purposes. 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured 
at their fair value.  Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets and valuation techniques, including discounted cash 
flow models and options pricing models, as appropriate.  All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when 
fair value is negative.
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The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e., the fair value of the consideration given 
or received) unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the 
same instrument (i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from 
observable markets.  When such evidence exists, the Bank recognizes the profits on day one.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as credit default swaps in a credit linked note, are treated as separate 
derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not 
carried at fair value through profit or loss.  These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized as 
part of Trading and Securities Gain in the income statements.  The change in fair value of derivative financial instruments is recognized in 
profit or loss except when their effect qualifies as hedging instrument.

Except for derivatives that qualify as a hedging instrument, change in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in profit or loss.  The 
method of recognizing the resulting fair value gain or loss on derivative that is designated as a hedging instrument, depends on the type of 
hedging relationship.  The Bank designates certain derivatives as hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognized 
asset or liability.  Hedge accounting is used for derivatives designated in this way provided certain criteria are met.

The Bank documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.  The Bank also documents in its assessment, both at hedge 
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes 
in cash flows of hedged items.

For cash flow hedge, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are 
recognized in capital funds.  The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in capital funds are recycled to the income statement in the periods in which the hedged item will affect profit or 
loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place).

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or 
loss existing in capital funds at that time remains in capital funds and is recognized when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized in 
the income statement.  When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in capital 
funds is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.  Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not 
qualify for hedge accounting are recognized immediately in the income statement.

  2.4.3 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of condition when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

  2.4.4 Sale and Repurchase Agreements

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (such as Securities Purchased Under Reverse Repurchase Agreements) are recorded at fair 
value through profit or loss. The Bank enters into short-term purchases of securities under reverse repurchase agreements of substantially 
identical securities with the BSP.  Interest earned on resale agreements are reported as interest income. 

  2.4.5 Impairment of Financial Assets

The Bank assesses at each statement of condition date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that 
loss event (events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated. 

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Bank. 

• Assets carried at amortized cost

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, 
and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the Bank determines that no objective 
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group 
of financial asset with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are individually 
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment 
of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans or held-to-maturity investments carried at amortized cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit loss that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in 
the income statement.  If income of loans or held-to-maturity investments have a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring 
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.  As a practical expedient, the Bank may 
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics 
(i.e., on the basis of the Bank’s grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status 
and other relevant factors).  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being 
indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the 
contractual cash flows of the assets in the Bank and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those 
in the Bank.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions 
that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical 
period that do not exist currently.
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Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with changes in related 
observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors 
indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the group and their magnitude).  The methodology and assumptions used for 
estimated future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss 
experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment.  Such loans are written off after all 
the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account.  The amount of the reversal is recognized in the income statement.

• Assets carried at fair value

The Bank assesses at each statement of condition date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired.  In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
of security below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale securities, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss – is removed from capital funds and recognized in the 
income statement.  Impairment losses recognized in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income 
statement.  If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can 
be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed 
through the income statement.

• Assets carried at cost

The Bank assesses at each statement of condition date whether there is objective evidence that any of the unquoted equity securities 
and derivative assets linked to and required to be settled in such unquoted equity instruments, which are carried at cost and for which 
objective evidence of impairment exist.  The amount of impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount of the equity 
security and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return of a similar asset.  
Impairment losses on assets carried at cost cannot be reversed.

2.4.6 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities include deposit liabilities, bills payable, derivative financial liabilities and accrued taxes and other liabilities.

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual agreements of the instrument.  All interest related charges 
are recognized as Interest Expense in the income statement.

Deposit liabilities and bills payable are recognized initially at fair value, which is the issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net 
of direct issue costs.  Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the 
redemption value is recognized in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently valued at fair value with changes in fair value charged to income 
statement.

Accrued taxes and other liabilities are recognized initially at their nominal value and subsequently measured at amortized cost less settlement payments.

Dividend distributions to shareholders are recognized as financial liabilities when the dividends are approved by the Board and the BSP.

Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of condition only when the obligations are extinguished either through discharge, 
cancellation or expiration.

 2.5 Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use.  
Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals are capitalized; expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as 
incurred.  When assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and their related accumulated depreciation and impairment losses are 
removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in income for the period.

  Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

 Furniture, fixtures and equipment  3 - 5 years
 Transportation equipment   5 years
   

 Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter.

 An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount (see Note 2.10).

 
 The residual values and estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

statement of condition date.

 An item of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income statement in the year the item is derecognized 
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2.6 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic resources and they can be estimated reliably 
even if the timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive 
commitment that has resulted from past events, for example, legal disputes or onerous contracts. 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at 
the statement of condition date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Any reimbursement expected to be 
received in the course of settlement of the present obligation is recognized, if virtually certain as a separate asset, not exceeding the amount of 
the related provision.  Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined 
by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  In addition, long-term provisions are discounted to their present values, where time value of 
money is material.

Provisions are reviewed at each statement of condition date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the 
amount to be provided for cannot be measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statements. 

Probable inflows of economic benefits that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered contingent assets, hence, are not 
recognized in the financial statements.

2.7 Revenue and Cost Recognition

2.7.1 Interest Income and Expense

Interest income and expense are recognized in the income statement for all instruments measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the 
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount 
of the financial asset or financial liability.  When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual 
terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.  The calculation includes all fees 
and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other 
premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is recognized 
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.7.2 Service Charges, Fees and Commissions

Service charges, fees and commissions are generally recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.  Commission and fees 
arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party – such as the arrangement of the acquisition of debt 
instruments or other securities – are recognized on completion of the underlying transaction.  Other service fees are recognized based on the 
applicable service contracts, usually on a time-appropriate basis.  

2.7.3 Trading and Securities Gain

Trading and securities gain is recognized when the ownership of the security is transferred to the buyer and is computed as the difference 
between the selling price and the carrying amount of the security.  Trading and securities gain also results from the mark-to-market valuation of 
the securities at the valuation date.

2.8 Leases

Leases, which do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Operating 
lease payments are recognized as expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Associated costs, such as maintenance 
and insurance, are expensed as incurred.

 2.9 Foreign Currency Transactions

• Functional and Presentation Currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (the functional currency).  The financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Bank’s 
functional currency.  The financial statements of the Bank’s foreign currency deposit unit (FCDU) which is reported in its functional 
currency, US dollars, are translated using the prevailing exchange rate at the statement of condition date for the statement of condition 
and profit and loss accounts.

• Transaction and Balances

The accounting records of the Bank’s regular banking unit are maintained in Philippine pesos while the FCDU are maintained in 
US dollars, its functional currency.  Foreign currency transactions during the period are translated into the functional currency at 
exchange rates which approximate those prevailing on transaction dates. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates if monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement.
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2.10 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

The Bank’s premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment and other resources are subject to impairment testing whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value in use, based on an internal discounted 
cash flow evaluation.  Impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit.  

All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized may no longer exist and the carrying amount 
of the asset is adjusted to the recoverable amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss.

 
 2.11 Employee Benefits

• Retirement Benefit Obligations 

Pension benefits are provided to employees through a defined benefit plan, as well as defined contribution plan.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, 
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary.  The legal obligation for any benefits from this 
kind of pension plan remains with the Bank, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been acquired.  Plan assets 
may include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit fund, as well as qualifying insurance policies.  The Bank’s defined 
benefit pension plan covers all regular full-time employees.  The pension plan is tax-qualified, noncontributory and administered by 
a trustee.  

The liability recognized in the statement of condition for defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation (DBO) at the statement of condition date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognized 
actuarial gains or losses and past service costs.  The DBO is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method.  The present value of the DBO is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high 
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are not recognized as an expense unless the total unrecognized gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater 
of the obligation and related plan assets.  The amount exceeding this 10% corridor is charged or credited to profit or loss over the 
employees’ expected average remaining working lives.  Actuarial gains and losses within the 10% corridor are disclosed separately.  
Past-service costs are recognized immediately in the income statement, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the 
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, the past service costs are amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Bank pays fixed contributions into an independent entity such as the 
Social Security System.  The Bank has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed 
contribution.  The contributions recognized in respect of defined contribution plans are expensed as they fall due.  

• Profit-sharing and Bonus Plans

The Bank recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration the 
profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders after certain adjustments.  The Bank recognizes a provision where it is contractually 
obliged to pay the benefits, or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

• Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days (including holiday entitlement) remaining at the statement 
of condition date.  They are included in the Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities account at the undiscounted amount that the Bank 
expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.

 
2.12 Income Taxes

Current income tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting 
period, that are uncollected or unpaid at the statement of condition date.  They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable 
to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.  All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as 
a component of tax expense in the income statement.

Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences at the statement of condition date between the tax 
base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Under the balance sheet liability method, with certain exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of condition date and reduced to the extent that it is probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of condition date.

Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in the income statement.  Only changes in deferred 
tax assets or liabilities that relate to a change in value of assets or liabilities that is charged directly to capital funds are charged or credited directly 
to capital funds.
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2.13 Trust Operations

The Bank commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, 
retirement benefit plans and other institutions.  These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they are 
not assets of the Bank.

2.14 Capital Funds

Preferred and common stocks are determined using the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Appropriated surplus pertains to appropriations for general loan losses computed based on the requirement of BSP regulations.

Surplus free include all current and prior period results as disclosed in the income statements.

Fair value gain on available-for-sale securities pertains to mark-to-market valuation of available-for-sale securities.

2.15 Financial Risk Management

2.15.1 Strategy in Using Financial Instruments

By their nature, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments including derivatives.  The Bank accepts deposits 
from customers at fixed and floating rates, and for various periods, and seeks to earn above-average interest margins by investing these funds in 
high-quality assets.  The Bank seeks to increase these margins by consolidating short-term funds and lending for longer periods at higher rates, 
while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that might fall due.

The Bank also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions in traded and over-the-counter instruments, including derivatives, to take 
advantage of short-term market movements in equities and bonds and in currency and interest rate prices.  

To manage the financial risk for holding financial assets and liabilities, the Bank operates an integrated risk management system to address the risks 
it faces in its banking activities, including liquidity, interest rate, credit and market risks.  The Bank’s risk management objective is to adequately 
and consistently evaluate, manage, control, and monitor the risk profile of the Bank’s statements of condition to optimize the risk-reward balance 
and maximize return on the Bank’s capital.  The Bank’s Risk Management Committee (RMC) has overall responsibility for the Bank’s risk 
management systems and sets risks management policies across the full range of risks to which the Bank is exposed.  The Bank’s RMC places 
trading limits on the level of exposure that can be taken in relation to both overnight and intra-day market positions.  With the exception of 
specific hedging arrangements, foreign exchange and interest rate exposures associated with these derivatives are normally offset by entering into 
counterbalancing positions, thereby controlling the variability in the net cash amounts required to liquidate market positions.

Within the Bank’s overall risk management system, Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is responsible for managing the Bank’s statement of 
condition, including the Bank’s liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange related risks.  In addition, ALCO formulates investment and financial 
policies by determining the asset allocation and funding mix strategies that are likely to yield the targeted statement of condition results.

Separately, the Risk Management Group (RMG) is tasked with managing the credit risk, which is the risk that the counterpart in a transaction 
may default, and market risk, which is the risk of future loss from changes in the pricing of financial instruments.

2.15.2 Market Risk

The Bank’s exposure to market risk, the risk of future loss from changes in the price of a financial instrument, relates primarily to its holdings 
in foreign exchange instruments, debt securities and derivatives.  The Bank manages its risk by identifying, analyzing and measuring relevant or 
likely market risks.  It recommends various limits based on activity indicators to the Bank’s RMC.  The RMC in turn passes its recommendations 
to the Board, which reviews and approves these limits.  

The Bank’s market risk management limits are generally categorized as limits on:

• Value-at-risk – the RMG computes the value-at-risk benchmarked at a level which is 20% of projected earnings.  The Bank 
uses the value-at-risk (VaR) model to estimate the daily potential loss that the Bank can incur from its trading book, based 
on a number of assumptions with a confidence level of 99%.  The measurement is designed such that exceptions over dealing 
limits should only arise in very exceptional circumstances;

• Stop loss – the RMG sets the amount of each risk-bearing activity at a percentage of the budgeted annual income for such 
activity;

• Nominal position – the RMG sets the nominal amount of U.S. dollar denominated instruments at the BSP-mandated U.S. 
dollar overbought position limit; 

• Trading volume – the RMG sets the volume of transactions that any employee may execute at various levels based on the 
rank of the personnel making the risk-bearing decision; and

• Earnings-at-risk – the RMG computes the earnings-at-risk based on 20% of projected earnings.

The RMG is also responsible for conducting stress tests (based on the VaR model) on the Bank’s portfolio of financial instruments and 
reporting the results to the Board for a more concrete assessment of the risks.  The RMG ensures that all policies as approved by the Board are 
properly communicated to, and adopted by, the risk-taking personnel.  The RMG also conducts market risk analysis before new products are 
introduced.

In 2006 it applied a 99% confidence level and a 260-day observation period.

During the year, the average value-at-risk for the Bank’s trading portfolio for a one-day holding period was P41 million.  The maximum and 
minimum values were P60 million (September 2006) and P27 million (January 2006), respectively.

For December 31, 2005, the respective items are as follows:

• Average value-at-risk for one year was P297.0 million; and
• Maximum and minimum values P41 million (September 2005) and P19 million (November 2005), respectively.
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2.15.3  Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that there are insufficient funds available to adequately meet the credit demands of the Bank’s customers and repay 
deposits on maturity.  The Bank manages liquidity risk by holding sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality to ensure short-term funding 
requirements are met and by maintaining a balanced loan portfolio which is repriced on a regular basis.  In addition, the Bank seeks to maintain 
sufficient liquidity to take advantage of interest rate and exchange rate opportunities when they arise.

The analysis of the maturity groupings of resources, liabilities and off-statement of condition items as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, in 
accordance with the account classifications of the BSP, are presented below (amounts in thousands):

  2006 

     One to      Three     One to      More    
     three     months to     five     than five
     months     one year     years     years     Total 

 Resources:
  Due from BSP  P 1,961,855   P -    P -    P -    P 1,961,855
  Due from other banks   2,153,969    -     -     -     2,153,969
  Loans and others receivables   1,029    113,289    311,527    313,179    739,024
  Financial assets at fair
   value through profit
   or loss   7,341,851    -     -     -     7,341,851
  Available-for-sale 
   securities   5,805,079    -             5,805,079
  Held-to-maturity
   investments   3,021    289,263    2,569,675    1,203,855    4,065,814 
  Other resources   1,877    13,778    82,036    5,969    103,660
   Total Resources   17,268,681    416,330    2,963,238    1,523,003    22,171,252 

 Liabilities and Capital
  Customer’s deposits   6,007,211    127,979    2,305,970    -     8,441,160
  Bills payable   8,543,333    389,437    550,000    -     9,482,770 
  Derivative financial  
   liabilities   -     53,901    274,201    -     328,102
  Other liabilities   55,414    20,765    9,681    10,968    96,828 
   Total liabilities   14,605,958    592,082    3,139,852    10,968    18,348,860 

  
  Capital    -     -     -     3,822,392    3,822,392

 Total liabilities and capital   14,605,958    592,082    3,139,852    3,833,360    22,171,252

 On-book Gap   2,662,723  (  175,752 ) (  176,614 ) (  2,310,357 )   -  
 
 Cumulative On-book Gap   2,662,723    2,486,971    2,310,357    -     - 

 Contingent Resources   4,438,731    474,657    6,238,693    -     11,152,081
 Contingent Liabilities   1,606,762    3,164,221    9,814,908    -     14,585,891
 Total Gap    2,831,969  (  2,689,564 ) (  3,576,215 )   -   (  3,433,810 ) 

 Cumulative total Gap  P 5,494,692   P 2,629,376  (P 1,123,453 ) (P 3,433,810 ) (P 3,433,810 )

  2005 

     One to      Three     One to      More    
     three     months to     five     than five
     months     one year     years     years     Total 

 Resources:
  Due from BSP  P 612,569   P -    P  -    P -    P 612,569 
  Due from other banks   1,238,771    90,253    -     -     1,329,024
  Loans and others receivables   7,537    30,918    483,252    17,704    539,411
  Financial assets at fair
   value through profit
   or loss   4,763,207    -       -     -     4,763,207 
  Available-for-sale 
   securities   100,089    -     3,544,744    1,733,559    5,378,392
  Held-to-maturity
   investments   203,280    217,399    1,242,635    970,942    2,634,256 
  Other resources   85    82,343    -     -     82,428
   Total Resources   6,925,538    420,913    5,270,631    2,722,205    15,339,287 

 Liabilities and Capital
  Customer’s deposits   1,935,032    83,175    1,786,016    -     3,804,223
  Bills payable   5,183,926    321,478    2,291,585    -     7,796,989 
  Derivative financial  
   liabilities   -         252,883    -     252,883
  Other liabilities   3,759    72,162    1,590    -     77,511 
   Total liabilities   7,122,717    476,815    4,332,074    -     11,931,606 
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                  2005 

     One to      Three     One to      More    
     three     months to     five     than five
     months     one year     years     years     Total 

  Capital    -     -     -     3,407,681    3,407,681

 Total liabilities and capital   7,122,717    476,815    4,332,074    3,407,681    15,339,287
 
 On-book Gap (  197,179 ) (  55,902 )   938,557  (  685,476 )   -  
 
 Cumulative On-book Gap (  197,179 ) (  253,081 )   685,476    -     - 

 Contingent Resources   2,794,454    5,313,684    4,573,185    -     12,681,323
 Contingent Liabilities   2,766,892    5,308,407    4,479,541    -     12,554,840
 Total Gap    27,562    5,277    93,644    -     126,483  

 Cumulative total Gap ( P 169,617 ) ( P  220,242 )  P 811,959   P 126,483   P 126,483

2.15.4  Foreign Exchange Risk

The Bank manages its exposure to effects of fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates by maintaining foreign currency exposure within 
the existing regulatory guidelines and at a level that it believes to be relatively conservative for a financial institution engaged in that type of 
business.

The Bank’s net foreign exchange exposure is computed as its foreign currency resources less foreign currency liabilities.  BSP regulations 
impose a cap of 2.5% of net worth, or US$5 million, whichever is lower, on the consolidated excess foreign exchange holding of banks in the 
Philippines.  In the case of the Bank, its foreign exchange exposure is primarily foreign exchange trading with corporate accounts and other 
financial institutions.  The Bank, being a market participant in the Philippine Dealing System (PDS), may engage in proprietary trading to take 
advantage of foreign exchange fluctuations.

The Bank’s foreign exchange exposure during the day is guided by the limits set forth in the Bank’s Risk Policy Manual.  These limits are within 
the prescribed ceilings mandated by the BSP.  At the end of each day, the Bank reports to the BSP on its compliance with the mandated foreign 
currency exposure limits. 

The following are the breakdown of the Bank’s financial resources and liabilities as to currency as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively:

            2006      
       Foreign 
       Currency     Peso     Total 

  Resources:
   Due from BSP  P  767,847,024   P 1,194,008,261  P  1,961,855,285  
   Due from other banks      2,011,526,500    142,442,049    2,153,968,549
   Financial assets at
    fair value through
    profit or loss    357,285,384    6,984,565,993    7,341,851,377
   Available-for-sale securities   751,484,152    5,053,594,469    5,805,078,621
   Held-to-maturity investments   1,977,507,120    2,088,306,441    4,065,813,561
   Loans and receivables   -     739,023,976    739,023,976

  Liabilities:
   Deposit liabilities    5,333,520,162    3,107,640,096    8,441,160,258  
   Bills payable    1,916,482,151    7,566,288,043    9,482,770,194
   Derivative financial instruments   214,442,242    113,660,089    328,102,331
   Accrued taxes and other liabilities   -     96,827,217    96,827,217

            2005      
       Foreign 
       Currency     Peso     Total 

  Resources:
   Due from BSP  P  470,865,620   P 141,702,926   P 612,568,546  
   Due from other banks   1,297,333,736    31,690,365    1,329,024,101
   Financial assets at
    fair value through
    profit or loss    376,901,593    4,386,304,973    4,763,206,566
   Available-for-sale securities   787,878,535    4,590,513,133    5,378,391,668
   Held-to-maturity investments   1,620,409,892    1,013,845,710    2,634,255,602
   Loans and receivables   -     539,410,987    539,410,987

  Liabilities:
   Deposit liabilities    2,758,864,351    1,045,358,395    3,804,222,746  
   Bills payable    3,181,347,698    4,615,640,817    7,796,988,515
   Derivative financial instruments   163,480,653    89,402,559    252,883,212
   Accrued taxes and other liabilities   -     77,510,781    77,510,781
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2.15.5  Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterpart in a transaction may default and arises from lending, treasury, derivatives and other activities undertaken 
by the Bank.  The Bank manages its credit risk and loan portfolio through the RMG, which undertakes several functions with respect to credit 
risk management.

The RMG undertakes credit analysis and review to ensure consistency in the Bank’s risk assessment process.  The RMG performs risk ratings 
for corporate accounts and risk scoring for consumer accounts.  It also ensures that the Bank’s credit policies and procedures are adequate to 
meet the demands of the business.  The RMG is also responsible for developing procedures to streamline and expedite the processing of credit 
applications.

The RMG also undertakes portfolio management by reviewing the Bank’s loan portfolio, including the portfolio risks associated with particular 
industry sectors, regions, loan size and maturity, and development of a strategy for the Bank to achieve its desired portfolio mix and risk profile.

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups 
of borrowers, and to geographical and industry segments.  Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent 
review.  Limits on the level of credit risk by product, industry sector and by country are approved quarterly by the Bank’s Board.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital 
repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits when appropriate.  Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining 
collateral and corporate and personal guarantees.

The RMG reviews the Bank’s loan portfolio in line with the Bank’s policy of not having significant unwarranted concentrations of exposure 
to individual counterparties, in accordance with the BSP’s prohibitions on maintaining a financial exposure to any single person or group of 
connected persons in excess of 25% of its Net Worth.

2.15.6 Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk

The Bank prepares gap analysis to measure the sensitivity of its resources, liabilities and off-statement of condition positions to interest rate 
fluctuations.  The focus of analysis is the impact of changes in interest rates on accrual or reported earnings.  This analysis would give management 
a glimpse of maturity and re-pricing profile of its interest sensitive resources and liabilities.  An interest rate gap report is prepared by classifying all 
resources and liabilities into various time buckets according to contracted maturities or anticipated repricing dates, and other applicable behavioral 
assumptions.  The difference in the amount of resources and liabilities maturing or being repriced in any time period category would then give 
the Bank an indication of the extent to which it is exposed to the risk of potential changes in net interest income.

3.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of resources and liabilities within the next financial year.  Estimates 
and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

3.1 Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of resources and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed in the succeeding pages. 

(a) Impairment losses on financial assets (loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale securities)

The Bank reviews its loan and held-to-maturity investments portfolios to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis.  In determining whether 
an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Bank makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating 
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the portfolio before the decrease can be identified with an individual 
item in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of 
borrowers or issuers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses 
estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the 
portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash 
flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.  To the extent that the basis point to be 
used is +/- 5 percent, the net present value of estimated cash flows will be P2,269 million higher or P1,627 million lower.  The carrying amount 
of available-for-sale securities would be an estimated P674 million lower or P591 million higher were the discount rate used in the discounted 
cash flow analysis to differ by 5% from management’s estimates.

The Bank carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires the extensive use of accounting estimates and judgment.  Significant 
components of fair value measurement were determined using verifiable objective evidence such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and 
volatility rates.  However, the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Bank utilized different valuation methods and assumptions.  Any 
change in fair value of these financial resources and liabilities would affect profit and loss and capital funds.

(b) Fair value of financial resources and liabilities

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial resources and liabilities in 2006 not presented in the 
statement of condition at their fair value.  Bid prices are used to estimate fair values of resources, whereas offer prices are applied for liabilities. 

  2006 
  Cost   Fair Value 

Due from BSP   P 1,961,855,285  P 1,961,855,285
Due from Other Banks    2,153,968,549  2,153,968,549
Available-for-sale Securities – at cost    5,500,100  5,500,100
Held-to-maturity Investments    4,065,813,561  4,467,228,862
Loans and Other Receivables    739,023,976  739,023,976
Deposit Liabilities  8,441,160,258  8,441,160,258
Bills Payable  9,482,770,194  9,482,770,194
Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities  96,827,217  96,827,217
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  2005 
  Cost   Fair Value 

Due from BSP   P 612,568,546  P 612,568,546
Due from Other Banks    1,329,024,101  1,329,024,101
Available-for-sale Securities – at cost    5,500,100  5,500,100
Held-to-maturity Investments    2,634,255,602  2,682,058,818
Loans and Other Receivables    539,410,987  539,410,987
Deposit Liabilities  3,804,222,746  3,804,222,746
Bills Payable  7,796,988,515  7,796,988,515
Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities  77,510,781  77,510,781

(i) Due from other Banks and BSP

Due from BSP pertains to deposits made by the Bank to BSP for clearing and reserve requirements. Due from other banks includes 
interbank placements and items in the course of collection.  The fair value of floating rate placements and overnight deposits is their 
carrying amount.  The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money-
market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity, which for short term deposits approximates the nominal 
value. 

(ii) Available-for-sale securities

The fair value of available-for-sale securities is determined by direct reference to published price quoted in an active market for traded 
securities.  On the other hand, non-quoted available-for-sale securities are carried at cost because the fair value cannot be reliably 
determined either by reference to similar financial instruments or through valuation technique.  

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

Fair value for held-to-maturity assets is based on market prices.  Where this information is not available, fair value has been estimated 
using quoted market prices for securities with similar credit, maturity and yield characteristics or through valuation techniques using 
discounted cash flow analysis. 

(iv) Loans and other receivables

Loans and other receivables are net of provisions for impairment.  The estimated fair value of loans and receivables represents the 
discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received.  Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates 
to determine fair value. 

(v) Deposits and borrowings

The estimated fair value of demand deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount 
repayable on demand. The estimated fair value of long-term fixed interest-bearing deposits and other borrowings without quoted market 
price is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. The carrying amounts of 
deposits and borrowings already approximate their fair values.

(c) Fair value of derivatives  

The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market are determined through valuation techniques using the 
net present value computation.

Valuation techniques are used to determine fair values which are validated and periodically reviewed. To the extent practicable, models use 
observable data, however, areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates.  
Changes in assumptions could affect reported fair value of financial instruments.  The Bank uses judgment to select a variety of methods and make 
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each statement of condition date.  

(d) Useful Life of Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 

The Bank estimates the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment based on the period over which the assets are expected 
to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if 
expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the 
use of the assets.  In addition, estimation of the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment is based on collective assessment of 
industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets.  It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be 
materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The amounts and timing of recorded expenses 
for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of bank premises, 
furniture, fixtures and equipment would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease non-current assets.

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment net of accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment losses amounted to P45,232,907 
and P31,926,514 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, in the financial statements (see Note 9).

(e) Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets

The Bank reviews its deferred tax assets at each statement of condition date and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets amounted to P28,796,450 and P24,820,148 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively (see Note 10).

(f) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Except for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, PFRS requires that an impairment review be performed when certain impairment 
indicators are present.  The Bank’s policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial assets is discussed in detail in Note 2.10.  Though 
management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, 
significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment loss could have 
a material adverse effect on the results of operations.
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(g) Retirement Benefits and Other Retirement Benefits

The determination of the Bank’s obligation and cost of pension and other retirement benefits is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions 
used by actuaries in calculating such amounts.  Those assumptions are described in Note 18 and include, among others, discount rates, expected 
return on plan assets and salary increase rate.  In accordance with PFRS, actual results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and 
amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect the recognized expense and recorded obligation in such future periods.

The retirement benefit asset and net unrecognized actuarial losses amounted to P8,173,700 and P8,426,780, respectively, in 2006 and P9,671,825 
and P2,072,091, respectively, in 2005 (see Note 18).

3.2 Critical Accounting Judgments

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from those involving estimation, 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized on the financial statements:

(a) Functional Currency

The Bank has determined that its functional currency is the Philippine peso which the currency of the primary environment in which the Bank 
operates.

(b) Held-to-maturity investments

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity.  This classification requires significant judgment.  In making this judgment, 
the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.  If the Bank fails to keep these investments at maturity other 
than for the allowed specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant amount close to maturity – it will be required to reclassify 
the entire class to available-for-sale securities.  However, the tainting provision will not apply if the sales or reclassifications of held-to-maturity 
investments are so close to maturity or the financial asset’s call date that changes in the market rate of interest would not have a significant effect 
on the financial asset’s fair value; occur after the Bank has collected substantially all of the financial asset’s original principal through scheduled 
payments or prepayments; or are attributable to an isolated event that is beyond the control of the Bank, is nonrecurring and could not have been 
reasonably anticipated by the Bank.  The investments would therefore be measured at fair value and not at amortized cost.  If the entire class of 
held-to-maturity investments is tainted, the fair value would increase by P401 million in the financial statements with a corresponding entry in 
the Fair Value Gain on Available-for-sale Securities account in the statement of changes in capital funds.

(c) Impairment of available-for sale financial assets

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in determining when an investment is permanently 
impaired.  This determination requires significant judgment.  In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates, among other factors, the duration and 
extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, 
including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flow.
 
(d)  Operating Leases

The Bank has entered into various lease agreements as a lessee.  Critical judgment was exercised by management to distinguish each lease 
agreement as either an operating or finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the 
properties covered by the agreements. 

Rent expense charged to operations amounted to P15,383,795 and P15,391,421 in 2006 and 2005, respectively (see note 21).

(e)  Provisions and Contingencies

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and contingencies.  Policies on recognition and disclosure of provision 
and disclosure of contingencies are discussed in Note 2.6 and relevant disclosures are presented in Note 21.

4. DUE FROM OTHER BANKS

The balance of this account represents regular deposits with the following:

   Note   2006   2005 

 Local banks  20  P       170,338,964 P 168,839,867 
 Foreign banks          1,983,629,585  1,160,184,234

      P    2,153,968,549 P 1,329,024,101

 Interest rates on these deposits range from 0.25% to 5.9% per annum in 2006 and 2005. 

The breakdown of this account by currency is as follows:

      2006   2005 

 U.S. Dollar P 1,978,919,190 P 1,269,698,833
 Peso        142,442,049          31,690,365
 Other foreign currencies         32,607,310         27,634,903

    P 2,153,968,549 P 1,329,024,101
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5. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
 

This account is composed of the following:
   

   Note   2006   2005 

Securities purchased under reverse
 repurchase agreements   P   6,452,964,583 P 3,352,093,750
Derivatives   13     511,454,984  533,623,658
Government securities        376,819,306  876,746,700
Other securities        612,504  742,458
  
Aggregate market value   P    7,341,851,377 P 4,763,206,566

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, except derivatives, represents various treasury bills and other securities issued by the 
government and other private corporations earning annual interest of 4.6% to 14.5% in 2006 and 5.6% to 16.5% in 2005.

Except for derivatives and securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements, amounts presented have been determined directly by 
reference to published price quoted in an active market.  The fair value of derivative financial assets is determined through valuation techniques 
using net present value computation.  The fair value of securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements is not individually determined 
as the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

The Bank recognized fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting to P44,714,843 loss and P5,306,861 gain 
in 2006 and 2005, respectively, which were included as part of Trading and Securities Gain in the income statements.

6. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

 This account is composed of the following:
   
      2006   2005 

Debt securities:
 Government securities   P 3,130,567,556    P 3,463,044,456
 Other debt securities        2,568,742,965  1,837,805,012
Equity securities 
 Quoted        100,268,000  72,042,100
 Not quoted    5,500,100  5,500,100
  
Aggregate market value   P    5,805,078,621 P 5,378,391,668

As to currency, the account is composed of the following:

      2006   2005 

  Peso P 5,053,594,469  P 4,590,513,132
  Foreign currency  751,484,152   787,878,536

   P    5,805,078,621 P 5,378,391,668
  

Changes in the available-for-sale securities are summarized below: 
    

      2006   2005 

Balance at beginning of year   P 5,378,391,668 P 2,358,179,963
Additions     2,911,507,166  5,134,423,189
Fair value gains (losses)  (  42,558,827 )   159,592,723
Disposals    (  2,213,225,556 )    (  2,193,700,525 )
Foreign currency revaluation  (  229,035,830 )     (         80,103,682 ) 

   
Balance at end of year   P    5,805,078,621 P 5,378,391,668

Available-for-sale securities include government bonds and corporate debt securities which earn interest of 5.6% to 13% per annum in 2006 
and 3.1% to 16.5% per annum in 2005.

Other debt securities include the host contract of credit-linked notes (CLN) while the embedded derivatives were bifurcated and presented 
separately from the CLN (see Note 13). A CLN is an instrument under which the issuer issues a note to the investor wherein both parties 
agreed that in the occurrence of a credit event in relation to the reference entity, the CLN accelerates and the investor is delivered the defaulted 
asset of the reference entity, or paid a net settlement amount equal to the market price of the defaulted asset or reference obligation adjusted 
for any transaction unwind costs.

Quoted equity securities represent common shares of Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company (PLDT) acquired in connection with the 
debt restructuring of PLDT’s subsidiary, Pilipino Telephone Corporation.  These shares were previously in the form of PLDT preferred shares 
convertible to PLDT common shares within seven years beginning June 4, 2001.  In June 2005, the Bank converted the PLDT preferred shares 
into PLDT common shares.
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The common shares have been designated by the Bank as available-for-sale securities as these shares are being held indefinitely.  The shares 
are valued at fair market values to account for both upward and downward market movements.  Unrealized gains and losses resulting from the 
revaluation are excluded from reported earnings and reported as part of Fair Value Gains on Available-for-Sale Securities in the statements of 
changes in capital funds.

 
 The fair values of available-for-sale securities have been determined directly by reference to published prices in an active market.

7. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 

 The balance of this account is composed of government securities with the following maturity profile:
        
      2006   2005 
  
  Within one year   P       292,283,820      P  420,679,117
  Beyond one year, within five years       2,569,675,103  1,242,634,925
  More than five years       1,203,854,638    970,941,560

     P  4,065,813,561 P 2,634,255,602
 

As to currency, the account is composed of the following:

      2006   2005 

  Peso   P 2,088,306,441   P 1,013,845,710
  Foreign currency   1,977,507,120    1,620,409,892

     P  4,065,813,561   P 2,634,255,602 
 
 Changes in the held-to-maturity investments are summarized below: 
    
      2006   2005 

Balance at beginning of year   P 2,634,255,602 P 2,100,460,347
Additions     1,873,206,561  3,466,044,754
Maturity    (      335,718,712 )    (  2,906,710,321 )
Foreign currency revaluation  (  105,929,890 ) (      25,539,178 )
  

  Balance at end of year   P  4,065,813,561 P 2,634,255,602

 Held-to-maturity investments consist of government bonds which earn interest at rates ranging from 6.4% to 15.6% per annum in 2006 and 
4.6% to 15.6% per annum in 2005.

 In 2006, the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) tendered an exchange offer to the holders of certain maturing government securities to exchange these 
transactions into new Benchmark Bonds.  In relation to the exchange offer of the BTr, the SEC and BSP issued their respective circulars which 
allow the exchange transaction to be exempted from the tainting provision of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, provided 
that the participating banks chose to retain the held-to-maturity classification of the Benchmark Bonds received.  The BSP Circular further 
requires that the difference between the fair value of the Benchmark Bonds and the carrying amount of the maturing government securities 
shall not be recognized as gains or losses in the income statement but shall be amortized over the life of the Benchmark Bonds.  On September 
4, 2006, the Bank participated in the exchange offer of the BTr by exchanging P328,247,292 held-to-maturity government securities.  The 
fair value of the Benchmark Bonds received amounted to P351,717,874, resulting to a gain of P23,471,582.  In compliance with the SEC and 
BSP, the Bank deferred the recognition of the gain and amortized it over the life of the Benchmark Bonds.  Total amount of gain amortized in 
2006 amounted to P765,996 and shown as part of Trading and Securities Gain in the income statement and the deferred gain amounting to 
P22,705,586 and is presented as part of Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities in the statement of condition (see Note 14).

  The fair value of held-to-maturity investments amounted to P4,467,228,862 and P2,682,058,818 in 2006 and 2005, respectively, determined 
using as reference published prices in an active market.

8. LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Loans and other receivables consist of the following:

   Note   2006   2005 
  
  Receivables from customers:
   Individuals:
    Consumer   P 21,723,444 P 21,253,802
    Commercial   103,982,452            23,503,798
        125,705,896  44,757,600
   Corporate:
    Commercial         603,240,718  485,720,439
        728,946,614   530,478,039
  Other receivables   20   10,077,362  8,932,948

       P  739,023,976 P 539,410,987
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 The maturity profile of the Bank’s loans and other receivables follows:

    
 2006 2005 

   Within one year  P  114,317,849  P 38,454,849
   Beyond one year, within five years           311,526,217   483,252,032
   More than 5 years   313,179,910   17,704,106
        
        P  739,023,976  P  539,410,987

The Bank’s concentration of credit as to industry for its receivables from customers follows:
      
 2006 2005 

   Manufacturing (various industries)  P 301,890,718  P      485,720,439
   Real estate, renting and business activities   8,035,556   8,022,000
   Other community, social and
        personal activities   419,020,340            36,735,600
 
       P 728,946,614  P  530,478,039

As to security, receivables from customers are classified into:
           
 2006 2005 
  
   Secured     
      Real estate mortgage  P 15,834,176  P 17,704,107
      Chattel mortgage   5,358,117   2,587,855
      Others   103,783,361             19,191,117
   Unsecured         603,970,960   490,994,960

        P 728,946,614  P 530,478,039
  
 All loans bear fixed interest rates both for 2006 and 2005.  The fair value of loans and other receivables from is not individually determined as 

the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

9. BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT

 A reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of 2006 and 2005, and the gross carrying amounts and the accumulated 
depreciation and amortization of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are shown below:

  Furniture,
 Transportation  Fixtures and Leasehold 
 Equipment Equipment Improvements Total 

 Balance at January 1, 2006, 
  net of accumulated 
  depreciation and amortization  P 4,635,705    P 3,374,186   P 23,916,623   P 31,926,514
 Additions   -     20,884,053           8,668,689    29,552,742
 Disposals – net (  484,510 )   -     -   (  484,510 ) 
 Depreciation and amortization
  charges for the year (         2,320,130  ) (  7,172,950 ) (  6,268,759 ) (  15,761,839 )

 Balance at December 31, 2006
  net of accumulated
  depreciation and amortization  P 1,831,065   P 17,085,289   P    26,316,553   P 45,232,907

 December 31, 2006   
  Cost  P 8,436,750   P 83,208,649   P 32,585,312  P 124,230,711
  Accumulated depreciation
       and amortization (  6,605,685 ) (  66,123,360 ) (  6,268,759 ) (  78,997,804 )

 Net carrying amount  P 1,831,065   P 17,085,289   P 26,316,553   P 45,232,907
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  Furniture,
 Transportation  Fixtures and Leasehold 
 Equipment Equipment Improvements Total 
 Balance at January 1, 2005, 
  net of accumulated 
  depreciation and amortization  P       9,299,409   P 3,126,490   P 1,277,921   P 13,703,820
 Additions   -     2,312,301           23,585,804    25,898,105
 Disposals – net (  843,509 )   -     -   (  843,509 )
 Depreciation and amortization
  charges for the year (  3,820,195 ) (  2,064,605 ) (  947,102 ) (  6,831,902 )

 Balance at December 31, 2005
  net of accumulated
  depreciation and amortization  P 4,635,705   P 3,374,186   P    23,916,623   P 31,926,514

 December 31, 2005
  Cost  P 18,951,331   P 62,324,596   P 27,253,798   P 108,529,725
  Accumulated depreciation
       and amortization (  14,315,626 ) (  58,950,410 ) (  3,337,175 ) (  76,603,211 )

 Net carrying amount  P 4,635,705   P 3,374,186   P 23,916,623   P 31,926,514 

The BSP requires that investments in bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment do not exceed 50% of the Bank’s unimpaired capital.  
As of December 31, 2006, the Bank has satisfactorily complied with this BSP requirement.

10. OTHER RESOURCES 

  This account consists of:
  Note    2006   2005 
 
   Deferred tax assets – net  19 P 28,796,450  P 24,820,148
   Deferred charges     15,563,689   13,177,142
   Defined benefit asset  18  8,173,700   9,671,825
   Others     5,893,534   2,833,571 

        P 58,427,373  P 50,502,686
 
 Deferred charges pertain mainly to software costs amortized over 3 to 10 years. The amortization charges amounted to P2,957,106 and 

P2,090,798 in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

11. DEPOSIT LIABILITIES

The maturity profile of the Bank’s deposit liabilities follows:

      2006   2005 
   
   Within one year  P 6,135,189,630  P 2,018,207,197
    Beyond one year up to five years   2,305,970,628   1,786,015,549
   

     P    8,441,160,258  P 3,804,222,746
 
The classification of the Bank’s deposit liabilities as to currency follows:

        
      2006   2005 
   
   Foreign   P 5,333,520,162  P 2,758,864,351
    Peso      3,107,640,096   1,045,358,395
   

      P    8,441,160,258  P 3,804,222,746

Interest rates on deposit liabilities range between 0.20% and 10.0% per annum in 2006 and 2005.

Management considers the carrying amount of the deposit liabilities recognized in the statement of condition to be a reasonable approximation 
of their fair values.
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12. BILLS PAYABLE

The maturity profile of bills payable follows:

      2006   2005 
   
    Within one year   P 8,932,770,194  P 5,505,404,246
    Beyond one year up to five years    550,000,000        2,291,584,269
   

       P    9,482,770,194  P 7,796,988,515

The breakdown of the account, as to currency follows:

      2006   2005 

    Foreign currency   P 1,916,482,151  P 3,181,347,698
    Peso      7,566,288,043   4,615,640,817
  

      P    9,482,770,194  P 7,796,988,515

Bills payable with maturities of one year or less represent the Bank’s borrowings from other local banks and entities which bear interest rates 
ranging from 3% to 10.5% per annum in 2006 and 4.1% to 10.5% per annum in 2005 (see Note 20).  Portion of the bills payable pertains 
to securities under reverse repurchase agreements with the BSP which were sold, without recourse, to clients.  These securities amounted to 
P4,786,223,999 and P3,028,981,061 in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

 
13. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Bank uses derivative instruments for both hedging and non-hedging purposes.  Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase 
foreign and domestic currency, including undelivered spot transactions.  Currency and interest swaps are commitments to exchange one set of 
cash flows for another.  Swaps result in an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate or floating) or a combination 
of all these (i.e., cross-currency interest rate swaps).  No exchange of principal takes place, except for certain currency swaps.  The Bank’s credit 
risk represents the potential cost to replace the swap contracts if counterparties fail to perform their obligation.  This risk is monitored on an 
ongoing basis with reference to the current fair value, a proportion of the notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market.  To 
control the level of credit risk taken, the Bank assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities.

The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments recognized on the statement of 
condition but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, 
do not indicate the Bank’s exposure to credit or price risks.  The derivative instruments become favorable (assets) or unfavorable (liabilities) as 
a result of fluctuations in market interest rates of foreign exchange rates relative to their terms.  The aggregate contractual or notional amount 
of derivative financial instruments on hand, the extent to which instruments are favorable or unfavorable, and thus the aggregate fair values of 
derivative financial assets and liabilities, can fluctuate significantly from time to time.  The fair values of derivative instruments held are set out 
below.

  Notional Fair Values  
  Amount Assets  Liabilities

 December 31, 2006

  Cross currency swaps P 101,932,841 P   153,811,385 P  82,051,486
  Forwards  159,010,707  182,016,702  28,560,537
  Interest rate swaps  2,375,150,000  139,301,585         76,435,951
  Credit default swaps  5,231,000,000  36,325,312  141,054,357

   P 7,867,093,548 P 511,454,984 P 328,102,331

 December 31, 2005

  Cross currency swaps P 4,801,395,000 P   299,179,294 P  157,119,044
  Forwards  2,402,712,333  129,609,538  62,355,990
  Interest rate swaps  1,700,000,000  51,293,423  -
  Cross currency swaps for hedging  544,700,000  33,324,132  -
  Credit default swaps  1,592,700,000  20,217,271  33,408,178

   P 11,041,507,333 P 533,623,658 P 252,883,212

The fair value gains or losses recognized as part of Trading and Securities Gain – net account in the income statements determined using 
valuation technique amounted to P44,714,843 loss and P113,733,776 gain in 2006 and 2005, respectively, representing changes in value of the 
derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Bank.
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14. ACCRUED TAXES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

 The breakdown of this account follows:

  Note    2006   2005 

   Deferred gain on 
    bond exchange  7 P 22,705,586  P -
   Accrued taxes    18,071,997   24,941,628
   Others     56,049,634   52,569,153

        P 96,827,217  P 77,510,781

15. CAPITAL FUNDS
 

 15. 1 Capital Stock

 Capital stock as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consists of:

   Shares   Amount 
       2006 2005 2006 2005 

  Preferred shares – P1,000 par value
   Authorized – 1,250,000 shares
   Issued and outstanding 1,225,000 1,225,000 P 1,225,000,000 P 1,225,000,000

  Common shares – P1,000 par value
   Authorized – 1,250,000 shares
   Issued and outstanding 
     Balance at beginning of year 625,000 625,000  625,000,000  625,000,000
     Issued during the year 315,000 -   315,000,000 - 
     
     Balance at end of year 940,000 625,000 P 940,000,000 P 625,000,000

 
As of December 31, 2006, the Bank has one stockholder owning 100 or more common shares.

 15.2 Preferred Shares and Deposit for Future Stock Subscription 

 The following are the features of the Bank’s preferred stock:

a. The Board may specify the terms, conditions, qualifications, restrictions and privileges of the preferred non-voting stock.  All preferred 
shares shall be of equal rank, preference, priority and shall be identical in all respects regardless of series.

b. The holders of serial preferred stock shall be entitled to receive dividends, when, as and if declared by the Board out of funds legally 
available and not before any dividends on the common stock shall be paid or set apart for payments.

c. The holders of the preferred shares shall not be entitled to vote at any meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors or for 
any other purpose or participate in any action taken by the Bank or its stockholders.

Deposit for future stock subscription in the amount of P315 million has been converted into common stock during the year, after the approval 
of the SEC of the Bank’s application for exemption from registration on August 11, 2006.

 
 15.3 Fair Value Gain on Available-for-sale Securities
 
 The reconciliation of the fair value gain on available-for-sale securities is as follows:
 
     Fair Value Gains   Related 
     on Available-for-   Deferred
     sale Securities   Tax   Total 
 
 Balance as of January 1, 2006  P 185,885,463  ( P 5,701,615 )  P 180,183,848
 Realization of fair value gain (  16,290,329 )   5,701,615  (  10,588,714 )
 Fair value loss (  31,970,113 )   -  (  31,970,113 )
 
 Balance as of December 31, 2006  P 137,625,021   P -    P 137,625,021 

 Balance as of January 1, 2005  P 20,591,125    P -    P 20,591,125
 Fair value gain   165,294,338  (  5,212,905 )   160,081,433
 Effects of change in RCIT rate   -   (  488,710 ) (  488,710 ) 

 
 Balance as of December 31, 2005  P 185,885,463  ( P 5,701,615 )  P 180,183,848 
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 15.4 Surplus Free

 On December 4, 2006, the Board approved the declaration of cash dividend amounting to P231 per preferred share and P231 per common 
share or a total of P500,115,000, payable to stockholders on record as of November 30, 2006.  The cash dividend was approved by the BSP 
on January 18, 2007 and subsequently paid by the Bank on January 26, 2007.

On October 5, 2005, the Board approved the declaration of cash dividend amounting to P135 per preferred share and P135 per common share or 
a total of P249,750,000, payable to stockholders on record as of  the same date.  The cash dividend was paid by the Bank on October 28, 2005.

 15.5 Unimpaired Capital

Under current banking regulations, the combined capital accounts of the Bank should not be less than an amount equal to 10% of its risk assets.  
The unimpaired capital of the Bank for purposes of determining the capital-to-risk assets ratio is total capital funds excluding (a) unbooked 
valuation reserves and other capital adjustments as may be required by the BSP, (b) total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations to 
related interests (DOSRI), (c) deferred tax asset or liability, (d) accumulated equity in earnings of investee where the Bank holds 50% or less but 
where the equity method of accounting has been applied, and (e) appraisal increment on bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment other 
than those allowed to be recognized in connection with a merger or acquisition.  

Risk assets consist of total assets after exclusion of cash on hand, due from BSP, loans covered by hold-out on or assignment of deposits, loans 
or acceptances under letters of credit to the extent covered by margin deposits, and other non-risk items as determined by the Monetary 
Board.

The amount of surplus funds available for dividend declaration is determined also on the basis of regulatory networth after considering certain 
adjustments.  

 15.6 Minimum Capital Requirement

Under an existing BSP circular, commercial banks are required to comply with the minimum capital requirement amounting to P2.4 billion.

As of December 31, 2006, the Bank has complied with the above capitalization requirement.

16. THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

Third party information refers to service charges incurred for market information from service providers Reuters, Prebon and Bloomberg for 
the Bank’s treasury operations.

17. OTHER EXPENSES

 This account is composed of the following:
      2006   2005 

 
    Insurance   P 9,469,553  P 5,989,029

    Advertising    8,948,932   8,331,320
    Supervision     6,489,378   4,504,104

    Security, messengerial and janitorial services    4,072,874   2,765,037
    Management and professional fees    3,863,162   2,010,866
    Communication    3,124,614   2,536,894

    Transfer fees and charges    2,062,284   1,849,643
    Miscellaneous    18,652,050   14,918,945

          P 56,682,847  P 42,905,838
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Expense recognized for employee benefits is analyzed below:

      2006   2005 
 

 Salaries and wages   P 65,106,524  P 41,726,718
 Pension – defined benefit plans    1,498,125   473,304
 Pension – defined contribution plans    811,304   589,681
 Others     500,910   985,725

      P 67,916,863  P 43,775,428

The Bank maintains a tax-qualified, noncontributory retirement plan covering all regular full-time employees.  The plan is being administered 
by a trustee.  

 The Bank obtained an updated actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2006 to ascertain the amount of retirement benefit cost and the balance 
of the defined benefit asset as of that date in accordance with PAS 19, Employee Benefits.  Actuarial valuations are obtained regularly to update 
the retirement benefit costs and the amount of contributions.

 The amounts of defined benefit asset recognized and included as part of Other Resources (see Note 10) account in the statements of condition 
are determined as follows:

      2006   2005 
 

     Present value of obligation   (P 33,203,963 ) ( P 12,732,889 )
     Fair value of plan assets     32,950,883    20,332,623 
     Excess (deficiency) of plan assets   ( 253,080 )   7,599,734
     Unrecognized actuarial losses     8,426,780    2,072,091

            P 8,173,700   P 9,671,825

The amounts of retirement benefits recognized in the income statements are as follows: 

      2006   2005 
 
 
    Current service costs    P       2,014,557   P 1,195,088
    Interest costs             1,515,214              1,176,731 
    Expected return on plan assets   ( 2,033,262 ) (  1,898,515 )
    Net actuarial gain recognized
      during the year     1,616    - 

    Retirement benefits    P 1,498,125   P 473,304

The movements in the defined benefit asset recognized in the books are as follows:

      2006   2005 
 

   Balance at beginning of year    P 9,671,825   P      10,145,129
    Expense recognized   ( 1,498,125 ) (   473,304 )

    Balance at end of year    P 8,173,700   P 9,671,825

For determination of the retirement benefit obligation, the following actuarial assumptions were used:

        2006   2005 
 
  Discount rates     8.9%       11.9% 
  Expected rate of return on plan assets    10.0%       10.0% 
  Expected rate of salary increases         10.0%     10.0%
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19. TAXES

19.1 Current and Deferred Taxes

 The major components of tax expense for the years ended December 31 are as follows:
      2006   2005 
 
  Reported in income statements
   Current tax expense:
    Final tax on income from FCDU at 10%   P 5,759,439   P 3,327,033
    Regular corporate income tax (RCIT) at 35%   -        17,209,615 
    Minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) at 2%   2,119,575    -
    Application of MCIT     -   (  8,814,775 )
    Final tax at 20% and 7.5%     55,795,428    26,709,766
         63,674,442    38,431,639
   Deferred tax expense (income):
    Deferred tax relating to origination and 
     reversal of temporary differences      1,725,312    20,561,889
    Deferred tax resulting from increase in tax rate   -   (        2,173,206 )
         1,725,312    18,388,683

        P 65,399,754   P 56,820,322

      2006   2005 
     
  Reported in statements of changes in capital funds (see Note 15.3)
   Deferred tax relating to origination and 
    reversal of temporary differences    P  5,701,615  ( P       5,212,905 )
   Deferred tax resulting from increase in RCIT rate    -   (  488,710 )
               
        P 5,701,615  ( P 5,701,615 )
      

The reconciliation of tax on pretax income computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax expense attributable to continuing operations is 
as follows:

 
      2006   2005 
    
  Tax on pretax income at 35%    P 182,934,085   P 187,050,950
  Adjustment for income subjected to
   lower tax rates   (  104,175,716 ) (  62,350,682 )
  Tax effects of:
   Unrecognized net operating loss carryover (NOLCO)   51,076,618    -
   Non-deductible interest and other expenses    37,362,261     22,897,329  
   Unrecognized MCIT      2,119,575    -
   Income from FCDU   (   53,387,830 ) (        34,590,299 )  
   Income exempted from income taxes   (  50,529,239 )   (         26,536,548 )
   Benefit from utilization of MCIT     -   (           3,085,171 )
   Benefit from previously unrecognized NOLCO    -   (         18,540,341 )
   Unrecognized deductible temporary difference    -   (          8,024,916 )
  
  Tax expense reported in the income statements   P 65,399,754   P 56,820,322 

The net deferred tax assets as of December 31 related to the following:
     
 Statements of Condition Income Statements Statements of Capital Funds
    2006 2005  2006  2005  2006  2005
 
 Deferred tax assets:
  Unrealized loss 
    on asset conversion P 14,565,460  P 14,565,460   P -   ( P  1,248,468 )  P  -   P -
  Unrealized gain on   
   trading securities 12,712,444 12,121,681  (  590,763 )   10,620,949    -    -
  Unamortized past  
   service cost 1,518,546 1,760,133    241,586    227,782    -    -
  MCIT -   -     -     8,814,775       -    -
  Accrual of expenses -  2,074,489    2,074,489  (  26,355 )   -    -
  
 Deferred tax liabilities:
  Changes in fair values 
   of available-for-sale 
   securities (Note 15) -  (     5,701,615 )   -     -   (  5,701,615 )   5,701,615
  
 Deferred Tax Expense (Income)       P  1,725,312    P 18,388,683   ( P 5,701,615 ) P  5,701,615
  
 Net Deferred Tax Assets P 28,796,450  P 24,820,148 
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The amount of NOLCO and MCIT as of the end of 2006 for which the related deferred tax assets have not been recognized are shown 
below:

        Amount   Tax Effect 
           
   NOLCO   P 145,933,193  P 51,076,618
   MCIT     2,119,575   2,119,575

      P      148,052,768  P 53,196,193

The Bank is not liable for RCIT in 2006, however, it is liable for the MCIT, which is computed at 2% of the gross income, as defined in the 
tax regulations.  The Bank recorded MCIT in 2006 amounting to P2,119,575 which formed part of current tax expense for the year.  The 
MCIT can be applied as deduction from future RCIT payable until 2009.  The MCIT amounting to P8,814,765 was applied against the Bank’s 
RCIT in 2005. 

In 2005, the Bank applied previously unrecognized NOLCO amounting to P52,972,403 against the Bank’s 2005 taxable income.  NOLCO 
amounting to P145,933,193 in 2006 can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income until 2009.

19.2 Recent Tax Regulation

On May 24, 2005, Republic Act (RA) No. 9337 (“RA 9337”), amending certain sections of the National Internal Revenue Code of 1997 was 
signed into law and became effective beginning November 1, 2005.  RCIT rate is increased from 32% to 35% starting November 1, 2005 until 
December 31, 2008 and will be reduced to 30% beginning January 1, 2009. 

Prior to the amendment of the Tax Code in 1997, FCDUs were subject to a 10% final tax on interest income from foreign currency loans with 
residents, in lieu of all taxes.  However, in 1997, pursuant to RA No. 8424, this exemption was not included.  On April 28, 2004, RA No. 9294 
was approved restoring the tax exemption of offshore banking units and foreign currency deposit units.

19.3 Gross Receipts Tax (GRT)/Value Added Tax (VAT)

On January 29, 2004, Republic Act 9238 reverted the imposition of GRT on banks and financial institutions.  This law is retroactive from January 
1, 2004.  Under RA 9238, the following is the new revised rates on GRT:

a. On interest, commissions and discounts from lending activities as well as income from financial leasing, on the basis of remaining 
maturities of instruments from which such receipts are derived:

   With maturity period of five years or less   5%
   With maturity period of more than five years  1%
 
b.  On dividends and equity shares in the net income of subsidiaries  0%

c. On royalties, rentals of property, real or personal, profits from exchange and 
 all other items treated as gross income under Section 32 of the NIRC  7%

d. On net trading within the taxable year on foreign currency, debt securities, 
 derivatives, and other similar financial instruments  7%

Provided, however, that in case the maturity period referred to in paragraph (a) is shortened thru pretermination, then the maturity period 
shall be reckoned to end as of the date of pretermination for purposes of classifying the transaction and the correct rate of tax shall be applied 
accordingly.

19.4 Documentary Stamp Tax (DST)

DST at rates ranging from P.30 to P2 on each P200 of the face value of the certificate or document are imposed on the following:

a. Bank checks, drafts, or certificate of deposit not bearing interest, and other instruments; and,

b. Bonds, loan agreements, promissory notes, bills of exchange, drafts, instruments and securities issued by the Government or any of its 
instrumentalities, deposit substitute debt instruments, certificates of deposits bearing interest and other not payable on sight or demand.

 On February 7, 2004, RA No.9243 was passed amending the rates of DST, the significant provisions of which are summarized below:

a. On every issue of debt instruments, there shall be collected a DST of P1 on each P200 or fractional part thereof of the issue price of any 
such debt instrument;

b. On all sales or transfer of shares or certificates of stock in any corporation, there shall be collected a DST of P.75 on each P200, or 
fractional part thereof, of the par value of such stock;

c. On all bills of exchange or drafts, there shall be collected a DST of P.30 on each P200, or fractional part thereof, of the face value of any 
such bill of exchange or draft; and,

d. The following instruments, documents and papers shall be exempt from DST:

• Borrowings and lending of securities executed under the Securities Borrowing and Lending Program of a registered exchange, 
or in accordance with regulations prescribed by the appropriate regulatory authority;

• Loan agreements or promissory notes, the aggregate of which do not exceed P250,000 or any such amount as may be determined 
by the Secretary of Finance, executed by an individual for his purchase on installment for his personal use;

• Sale, barter or exchange of shares of stock listed and traded through the local stock exchange for a period of five years from the 
effectivity of RA 9243;
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• Fixed income and other securities traded in the secondary market or through an exchange;

• Derivatives including repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements;

• Bank deposit accounts without a fixed term or maturity; and,

• Interbank call loans with maturity of not more than seven days to cover deficiency in reserve against deposit liabilities.

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 20.1 Nature of Related Party Transactions

 The significant transactions of the Bank in the normal course of business with related parties are described below:

a. The Bank has loan transactions with its officers and employees.  The General Banking Act and BSP regulations provide that in the 
aggregate, loans to directors, officers, stockholders and related interests (DOSRI) generally should not exceed the Bank’s total capital 
funds or 25% of the Bank’s total portfolio, whichever is lower.  As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, total loans extended to DOSRI 
amounted to P21,536,935 and P20,881,712, respectively. 

Relative to the DOSRI loans, the following additional information are also presented:

      2006   2005 

    Total outstanding DOSRI loans     P      21,536,935   P 20,881,712
    % to total loan portfolio     0.3%     3.9%
    % of unsecured DOSRI loans to total DOSRI loans   1.6%     2.8%

b. Up to 2005, the Bank had a master service agreement with BDO Securities Corporation (BDO Securities), a related party.  Under the 
terms of the agreement, the Bank shall provide BDO Securities with technical and administrative assistance, including but not limited 
to, processing and documentation assistance, maintenance and use of premises and equipment, front and back office operations, securities 
account settlement services and the preparation of accounting and other records relating to BDO Securities’ business in exchange for a 
fee.  In 2005, management fees amounted to P7,188,497 which is shown as part of Service Charges, Fees and Commissions account in 
the income statements.  The agreement was subsequently terminated in 2006.  Outstanding receivables from BDO Securities amounted 
to P4,139,264 and P6,434,477 in 2006 and 2005, respectively, and are shown as part of Loans and Other Receivables account in the 
statements of condition (see Note 8).

c. The Bank has an outstanding bills payable to BDO of US$19,996,125 (P1,061,594,276) as of December 31, 2005, with interest rates 
ranging from 4.1% to 4.5% per annum in 2005 and are shown as part of the Bills Payable account in the statements of condition (see 
Note 12).  There were no outstanding bills payable as of December 31, 2006.  Interest expense related to these liabilities amounted to 
P8,988,535 and P42,041,359 in 2006 and 2005, respectively, and are included as part of the Interest Expense on Bills Payable  in the 
income statements.

d. The Bank maintains deposits with BDO.  In 2006 and 2005, deposits in BDO amounted to P170,338,964 and P79,481,439, respectively, 
and are included as part of Due from Other Banks in the statements of condition (see Note 4).  Annual interest rates on these deposits 
range from 0.25% to 2% in 2006 and 2005.

 20.2 Key Management Personnel Compensation

 Salaries and short-term benefits received by key management personnel amounted to P35,787,267 and P23,619,307 in 2006 and 2005, 
respectively.

21. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Bank:

a. The Bank is a party under a lease agreement covering its office premises which have remaining lease term up to April 11, 2011.  The 
future minimum rentals payable under this operating lease amount to P56,581,473 and P4,023,846 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively. 

Rent expense amounted to P15,383,795 and P15,391,421 in 2006 and 2005, respectively, and are shown as part of Occupancy account 
in the income statements.

b. In the normal course of the Bank’s operations, the Bank has various outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities such as 
guarantees, commitments to extend credit, etc., which are not reflected in the accompanying financial statements.  The Bank recognizes 
in its books any losses and liabilities incurred in the course of its operations as soon as these become determinable and quantifiable.

   
 As of December 31, 2006, the Bank’s management believes that losses, if any, from the above commitments and contingencies will not 
have material effect on the Bank’s financial statements.

   
 The following is a summary of the Bank’s commitments and contingent accounts as of December 31:

      2006   2005 
  
  Trust department accounts   P    179,848,973  P 136
  Items held for safekeeping     24    17
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22. TRUST OPERATIONS

 As of December 31, 2006, the following securities and other properties held by the Bank in fiduciary or agency capacity (for a fee) for its 
customers are not included in the accompanying statement of condition since these are not properties of the Bank.

  Investments     P  55,674,358
  Others      124,174,615
  
      P 179,848,973

The trust operations of the Bank relates mainly to assets under custodianship or safekeeping.  Accordingly, securities and other properties held 
by the Bank in fiduciary or agency capacity for clients and beneficiaries are not included in the accompanying statements of condition since 
these are not resources of the Bank.

In compliance with the current banking regulations relative to the Bank’s trust functions, government bonds (included as part of Held-to-
maturity Investments) owned by the Bank with face value of P2 million and P1 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, are 
deposited with BSP.

23. SELECTED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

 The following are some of the financial performance indicators of the Bank:

     2006 2005  

  Return on average equity   

   Net income   12.92% 14.7%
   Average total capital accounts  

  Return on average assets 

   Net income   2.72% 3.35%
   Average total assets

Net interest margin    

   Net interest income 2.45% 3.45%
   Average interest earning assets

Capital to risk assets ratio

   Total capital  67% 103%
   Risk assets
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